THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Joseph M. Strickland, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-002546

RECEIVED  
JUL 12 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Indymac INDX Mortgage Loan Trust  
2006-AR29, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR29, Plaintiff

v.

Derrick Wilson a/k/a Derrick P. Wilson; Branch Banking and Trust Company of South Carolina;  
Rolling Creek Community Association of Irmo, Defendants

Regime Solutions, LLC, Third Party Bidder

of which

Regime Solutions, LLC.....Appellant

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, et. al.....Respondent

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court err in upholding the Judgment and Sale even when a necessary party was not named in the action?
2. Did the Court err in allowing Regime to be bound to the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale by way of a Rule to Show Cause hearing?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the lower court granting Respondent's Motion for Rule to Show Cause and denying Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sale. (R.pp. 14-16). Regime Solutions became the owner of the subject property on August 3, 2015 by Master's Deed from a homeowner's association foreclosure sale wherein they were the highest bidder. (R.pp. 84-86). On August 17, 2015 Respondent filed a Lis Pendens, Summons and Complaint in order to foreclosure on the property pursuant to a mortgage executed in their favor by Derrick Wilson and Kristina K. Thompson. (R.pp. 17-28). The August 17 complaint named Derrick Wilson, Branch Banking and Trust Company of South Carolina and Rolling Creek Community Association of Irmo. (R.pp. 17-28). However, the complaint did not name the owners of the property, Regime. (R.pp. 17-28). Respondent was granted a Judgment and Order for Foreclosure on April 12, 2016. (R.pp. 3-13). Thereafter, Appellant received a Motion for Joinder and Rule to Show Cause. (R.pp. 29-31). Regime promptly filed a Motion to Vacate the Judgment and Sale, along with a memorandum in support. (R.pp. 36-39; 44-50). A hearing was held on October 21, 2016 before the Richland County Master-in-Equity, Joseph M. Strickland. (R.pp. 54-83). Judge Strickland ruled via an Order Pursuant to Rule to Show Cause on November 14, 2016. (R.pp. 14-16). That Order was never mailed to Appellant, but Appellant became aware of the order on November 30,

2016 and this appeal was filed December 22, 2016. (R.pp. 51-53).

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A real estate foreclosure is an action in equity.” *MI Co., Ltd. v. McLean*, 325 S.C. 616, 482 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 1997). The South Carolina Court of Appeals “review[s] factual findings and legal conclusions in an equitable action de novo.” *Id.* In addition, the interpretation of an order is a question of law subject to de novo review. *See Ex parte TLC Laser Eye Ctrs. (Piedmont/Atlanta), LLC*, 404 S.C. 385, 392, 745 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2013). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the circuit court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” *Carson v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 400 S.C. 221, 229, 734 S.E.2d 148, 152 (2012).

### ARGUMENT

#### **1. Regime Solutions, LLC was a necessary party to the foreclosure action and must be added in accordance with the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.**

Rule 19(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides that :

a person who is subject to service of process and whose joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction of the subject matter of the action shall be joined in the action if (1) in his absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or (2) he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest or (ii) leave any of the person already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of his claimed interest.

“If [an indispensable party] has not been so joined, *the court shall order that he be made party.*”

[emphasis in original] *Charleston County Parents for Public School, Inc. v Moseley*, 343 S.C. 509, 514, 541 S.E.2d 533, 535-36 (2001).

Here, Regime was not named in an action for foreclosure. (R.pp. 17-28). At the commencement of the action, Regime was the fee simple owner of the property, having received the property via a foreclosure of the previous homeowner's interest. (R.pp. 84-86). Importantly, Regime was the *homeowner* not a *lienholder*. "If the object of the proceeding is to adjudicate the right of the encumbrancers, as well as to foreclose for the benefit of the immediate plaintiff, then such encumbrancers are necessary parties, because their rights cannot be determined in their absence." *Douthit v. Hipp*, 23 S.C. 205, 208 (S.C., 1885). While the *Douthit* quote contemplates encumbrancers in that scenario to be necessary parties, it would seem to be even more evident that a homeowner has to be a necessary party in the case of foreclosure.

"The holder of the "equity of redemption," so called, is a necessary party to the action to foreclose the mortgage, and, unless made a party is in no wise concluded by the proceedings. *Greenwood Loan and Guarantee Ass'n v. Childs*, 45 S.E. 167, 168, 67 S.C. 251 (S.C., 1903). In *Greenwood* a foreclosure was brought against a Hattie Williams, who previously conveyed her interest in the subject property to a Rhoda Childs. *Id.* Ms. Childs was not made a party to the foreclosure proceedings. *Id.* The Court held that Ms. Childs remained the owner of the legal title the property because she was not named in the foreclosure. *Id.* In a subsequent appeal encompassing the same facts, the South Carolina Supreme Court noted with approval that the Greenwood Loan and Guarantee, the plaintiff, obtained an order vacating the foreclosure and amended the complaint to add Ms. Childs. *Greenwood Loan and Guarantee Ass'n v. Williams*, 71 S.C. 421, 51 S.E. 272 (S.C., 1905) (*See also: Boddie v. Scott*, 15 S.E.2d 122, 197, S.C. 251 (S.C. 1941) Judgment of foreclosure reversed and leave granted to amend pleadings adding necessary party). Regime believes this to be the proper solution to the matter at hand. The

Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale granted in Respondent's favor named who they believed to be the homeowner (erroneously) and purported to give Respondent free and clear title to the property having, supposedly, foreclosed any opposing claims to the property. (R.pp. 3-13). The Order issued in this case ordered that Regime be joined to the action and bound to the judgment as if they had been named in the matter. (R.pp. 14-16). However, it is clear that complete relief could not have been afforded to Respondent. The judgment of foreclosure and sale did not affect the rights of the actual owner of the property, thereby granting to Respondent, if anything, a property clouded by the rights of Regime that were not adjudicated. Regime asserts that, because they were a necessary party to the foreclosure, the proper action for the court upon this fact being brought to its attention would have been to order Respondent to amend their Summons and Complaint to include Regime, adding them as a party.

Regime, as a homeowner, has unaddressed defenses and concerns that a rule to show cause cannot satisfy. Regime has to be given an opportunity to engage in the judicial process with Plaintiff concerning the foreclosure action. For instance, at this time Regime has a right to have the indebtedness and ownership of alleged indebtedness proved by a preponderance of the evidence. They have the right to question the debt figures before determining whether to exercise their right of redemption. It is unknown how much of any proved debt would be objectionable, as Regime would dispute any amount that included attorney's fees and costs that were accrued as a result of a foreclosure action in which they were not a party. However, they are not privy to this information as they have not been afforded the opportunity to raise this defense and engage in discovery on that issue. This is just one example of a legitimate defense that would be lost to them if they were attached to the prior judgment. In fact, no real rights of

ownership or otherwise were adjudicated in the underlying foreclosure since no named parties had any rights. Derrick Wilson lost any interest he had in the property to the homeowners' association foreclosure, and the homeowners' associations' existing lien was paid via the Master's sale wherein Regime was the highest bidder. As such, Regime was the only *necessary* party to the foreclosure as they were the only party that had any claim of rights in the property. Therefore, the foreclosure was a nullity as the underlying judgment foreclosed on the right of persons claiming no ownership interest in the property foreclosed upon. Why then should the rightful homeowner not be afforded the same access to discovery, etc. as was afforded parties who had no ownership interest? Regime has the right to due process of the law before their property can be taken from them.

A similar issue was ruled on by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in *Green Tree Servicing, LLC v. Adams*. *Green Tree Servicing, LLC v. Adams*, 654 S.E.2d 100 (S.C. App. 2007). In *Green Tree* a Plaintiff lender sought to clear title by requesting a rule to show cause hearing to add an omitted lienholder, Mr. Adams, to the foreclosure action. *Id.* at 204. The master in equity declined to do so, issuing an order indicating that he no longer had subject matter jurisdiction to enter Mr. Adams as a party to the case. *Id.* The Court of Appeals agreed and stated that "the circuit court cannot bind [an omitted lienholder] to a foreclosure action to which he was not a party thereby extinguishing his lien." *Id.* A rule to show cause is not an appropriate avenue for Respondent to add Regime as a party because a judgment has been rendered in the foreclosure proceeding. The Master no longer had jurisdiction to add Regime as a party or to bind Regime to a judgment arising from an action to which they were not a party.

The proper remedy for Respondent was to vacate the judgment and sale and amend to

properly dispose of Regime's fee ownership of the property or bring a quiet title action.

In addition, Regime is not an omitted lienholder as Mr. Adams was. Regime is the owner of the home by deed. Their position is analogous to any other homeowner in this state. It is highly unlikely that Respondent would attempt to foreclose by a rule to show cause the rights an omitted homeowner who was also a borrower under the mortgage being foreclosed. Similarly, just because Regime was not a borrower did not diminish their rights to due process of law before foreclosing its interest in the property.

The plaintiff in *Green Tree*, after having their request for a rule to show cause denied, went on to file a quiet title action against Mr. Adams. *Green Tree Servicing, LLC v. Adams*, 654 S.E.2d at 102. The *Green Tree* court stated that a foreclosure without naming a junior lienholder was proper because a junior lienholder is a *permissive* party, and thus the underlying foreclosure is valid. *Id.* The court noted, however, that the junior lienholder's lien was still open and effective absent him being named and his lien adjudicated in the foreclosure proceeding. *Id.*

Respondent argues that South Carolina Jurisprudence allows an omitted homeowner to be subjected to a judgment by way of a rule to show cause hearing. Regime disagrees. All cases cited to bolster Respondent's position concern omitted *lienholders*, not persons with legal title to the property as Regime currently holds. Another distinction between Regime and the cases relied upon by Respondent is, again, that Regime is a necessary party and the underlying foreclosure is void. Respondent relies on the Supreme Court Case *Peeples v. Snyder* wherein a second mortgagee was found to not be a necessary party. *Peeples v. Snyder, et. al.* 141 S.C. 152, 139 S.E. 405. However, as above, Regime is not a second mortgagee, or any other type of lienholder- they hold legal title to the property. A fee owner of a property has other indelible rights superior to

those of a junior lienholder. As set forth in the *Peeples* case cited by Respondent:

“[t]he first mortgagee had the *legal right* to foreclose his mortgage without making the second mortgagee a party to the action. While the second mortgagee, under the circumstances, was a *proper* party, she was not a *necessary* party; and however expedient it may have been, and was, to have made her a party, as this case has demonstrated, in order that all questions might be determined in the one action, the omission did not affect the validity of the foreclosure proceedings; it only affected the *effectiveness* of it in leaving open, undetermined, the rights of the second mortgagee.”[emphasis in original]. *Id.* at 139 S.E. 406.

In the present case we have the inverse relationship and therefore the inverse result. Plaintiff failed to name a necessary party, and that omission did affect the validity of the foreclosure proceedings rendering them void.

Finally, binding Regime to the Order of Judgment and Sale would appear to do nothing. This is due to the fact that the Order erroneously states that the Wilsons are the homeowners whose rights in the property are being terminated. (R.pp. 6-8). The underlying foreclosure did not adjudicate similar rights to Regime’s, as the alleged title holders were in default, and Regime was not given an opportunity to defend itself in the matter.

**2. A Rule to Show Cause is not the proper vehicle to adjudicate an omitted homeowner’s interest in a property.**

- a. *The Motion for Rule to Show Cause seems to be based on Rule 60, which is not a proper method for binding a party to a judgment*

Respondent filed a motion for rule to show cause which would seem to be based on Rule 60(a) or (b), due to the implication that the Court would modify a judgment if Regime could not show cause as to why they should not be bound to the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale. (R.pp.

29-31).

First, Rule 60(a) is not a proper vehicle for Respondent to add Regime to the judgment obtained in their absence. In *Dion v. Ravenel*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals overturned a Master-in-Equity's Supplemental Order in which he purported to add a descriptive language to an easement in the property description. *Dion v. Ravenel Eiserhardt Associates*, 449 S.E.2d 251, 316 S.C. 226 (S.C. App., 1994). The Court went on to say "While a court may correct mistakes or clerical errors in its own process to make it conform to the record, it cannot change the scope of the judgment." *Id.* at 253-54, 316 S.C. 230. In the present case, "adding" Regime would change the scope of the judgment. Regime is not mentioned anywhere in the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale. (R.pp. 3-13). This is not merely a clerical error wherein Regime's name is misspelled; Regime is not considered or mentioned in the judgment in any way. *Id.*

Additionally, Rule 60(b) cannot be used to subject Regime to the judgment of foreclosure and sale. Rule 60(b) is a construct of the rules for a defendant subjected to a judgment to seek relief from said judgment. SCRCP Rule 60(b). It is unclear how this Rule is supposed to function in Respondent's favor. For one, when a Rule 60(b) motion is granted the judgment is typically vacated. That is not what happened in the instant case. The Order merely purported to bind Regime to the Order of Foreclosure and Sale previously filed. (R.pp. 14-16). The Order cited no case law in which an omitted homeowner can be bound by a foreclosure judgment in this manner. *Id.* In fact, while researching this issue for the brief, counsel for the Appellant could find no instances in which a homeowner was subjected to a foreclosure judgment by way of a rule to show cause. However, research into persuasive law provided multiple examples of foreclosure judgments being found void for failing to add a necessary party. (See; *Citibank, N.A. v.*

*Villanueva* No. 4D15-239 (Fla. App., 2015) ("The fee simple title holder is an indispensable party in an action to foreclose a mortgage on property"). *Galvanizer's Co. v. Highway Comm'n*, 807 8 Wn. App. 804, 509 P.2d 73 ("A lien foreclosure action is absolutely void absent service of process upon a necessary party...."). *Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC v. Sulyman*, 2015 Slip Op 5989 (N.Y. App. Div., 2015). (Reversing judgment wherein a necessary party was not named in the foreclosure)).

b. *Allowing Plaintiff to join Regime by Rule to Show Cause would have sweeping unjust public implications*