THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 11 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity

Case No. 2015-CP-40-04940

Appellate Case No. 2016-002546

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Indymac INDX Mortgage
Loan Trust 2006-AR29, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR29
.....Respondent,

v.

Derrick Wilson a/k/a Derrick P. Wilson; Branch Banking and Trust Company of
South Carolina; Rolling Creek Community Association of Irmo, and Regime
Solutions, LLC,Defendants,

Of whom Regime Solutions, LLC is the.....Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Court properly bind a party with a junior interest to the Order of Judgment and Sale, where the party was not initially named in the action, but joined post judgment through a Rule to Show Cause?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from a mortgage foreclosure action filed August 17, 2015. (R. pp.17-26.) Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Indymac INDX Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-AR29, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR29, Plaintiff, commenced a foreclosure action against the Defendant Derrick Wilson for the purpose of foreclosing on a refinance, first-lien mortgage, dated September 1, 2006, recorded September 8, 2006, in Book 1227 at Page 752, in the Office of the Richland County Register of Deeds. (R. pp. 17-26.). The action was referred to the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland as the Master In Equity for Richland County by order entered on January 28, 2016. (R. p. 1.) The order of reference ordered that the Master in Equity have “authority to dispose of any and all issues and enter a final judgment in the cause, without further order of the court, to order a judicial sale on any day, not just a regular judicial sales day and to hear any issues and make any orders **after sale or judgment...**” (R. p. 1, emphasis added.)

An Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale was filed on April 19, 2016. (R. pp. 3-13.) After the entry of Judgment, but prior to holding the judicial sale, Plaintiff discovered a deed to Regime Solutions, LLC recorded August 3, 2015, in Book 2047 at Page 721. (R. pp. 84-86.) Regime Solutions’ (“Regime”) interest in the property is junior and subordinate to Plaintiff’s first-lien mortgage, which was recorded nine years prior in time to Regime’s deed.

Upon discovery of the junior interest, Plaintiff filed a Summons and Rule to Show Cause and Motion for Joinder. (R. pp. 29-33.) Said pleading were served on Regime Solution’s, providing them the opportunity to show cause as to why they should not be bound by the Judgment. (R. p. 87.) In response to the Rule to Show Cause, Regime filed a Motion to Vacate Sale and Set Aside Judgment. (R. pp. 36-39.)

A hearing was held on October 21, 2016, before the Master in Equity. (R. pp. 58-83). At hearing, Regime failed to show good cause as to why they should not be bound to the Judge's Order. (R. pp. 58-83.) The Judge allowed each side to file memorandums in support of their argument and submit a proposed order. The Plaintiff submitted a Memorandum in Support of the Rule to Show Cause on November 1, 2016. (R. pp. 40-43.) The Master in Equity issued a ruling on November 14, 2016, ordering Regime joined as a Defendant to the action and bounds by the Judgment as though they had been joined as a Defendant from the commencement of the foreclosure action. (R. pp. 14-16.) The Judge also confirmed that the ownership interest of Regime is junior and subordinate to the Plaintiff's mortgage. (R. pp. 14-16.)

On December 22, 2016, this appeal was filed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity." Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey, 327 S.C. 242, 248, 489 S.E.2d 472, 475 (1997). "In an appeal from an action in equity, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence." Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. Charleston S. Univ., 376 S.C. 399, 407, 656 S.E.2d 775, 779 (Ct. App. 2008). Nevertheless, "the appellant is not relieved of his burden of convincing the appellate court the trial judge committed error in his findings." U.S. Bank Trust Nat. Ass'n v. Bell, 385 S.C. 364, 373, 684 S.E.2d 199, 204 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting Pinkney v. Warren, 344 S.C. 382, 387-88, 544 S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001)). The Court may affirm the trial court's ruling for any ground appearing in the record. Rule 220(c) SCACR ; see also I'On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

ARGUMENT

1. THE MASTER IN EQUITY PROPERLY JOINED REGIME VIA A RULE TO SHOW CAUSE AND PROPERLY BOUND THEM TO THE JUDGMENT OF FORECLOSURE AND SALE.

a. A Rule to Show Cause is the proper procedure for joining a party holding a subordinate interest.

The rule to show cause is based on Peeples v. Snyder, 139 S.E. 405 (1927), and Union National Bank of Columbia v. Cook, 96 S.E. 484 (1918), which are the leading cases in South Carolina dealing with the rights of omitted parties.

In Peeples, the senior mortgagee, who was the successful bidder at the foreclosure sale, failed to include a junior mortgagee as a defendant in its foreclosure action. The Court rejected the junior's argument that a merger of legal and equitable title occurred upon the senior's purchase of the real estate at the foreclosure sale, therefore propelling its lien into first position. The Court stated that there was no merger of title and held that the remedy for omitted junior lien was the same as "...if there had been no foreclosure proceeding, which would be by redeeming the property from the first mortgage and foreclosing both mortgages or foreclosing against the equity of redemption." Peeples, 139 S.E. at 409.

In Union National Bank of Columbia, a junior mortgagee not named in the senior mortgagee's foreclosure case brought a foreclosure suit against the purchaser of the real estate from the foreclosure sale. The Court stated that prior and subsequent lien holders are not necessary parties, but they are proper parties to a foreclosure action. The Court further stated that those not made parties maintain the same position they held prior to the sale - their rights are unaltered, their liens continue to encumber the land, and they retain the right of redemption from the holder of the

mortgage before the sale and from the purchaser after the sale – but “it must appear to the Court prima facie that the land is worth more than prior encumbrances and that in probability upon a resale of the land the proceeds would reach the claim of the junior incumbrancer.” Union National Bank of Columbia, 96 S.E. at 488.

As Peeples and Union National Bank of Columbia show, in the case at hand, Regime Solutions must elect to redeem the property from the Plaintiff by tendering the total amount due to Plaintiff, or it must be bound by the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale.

Despite the clear case law, Appellant disagrees that the Respondent’s Motion for Joinder and Rule to Show Cause properly joined them to the action. To support this proposition, Appellant cites Greenwood Loan and Guarantee Ass’n v. Childs., 45 S.E. 167, 67 S.C. 251 (S.C., 1903).

In Greenwood, a property owner, Hattie Williams, mortgaged her property and then subsequently sold it to a third party. The bank initiated foreclosure and purchased the property at the foreclosure sale. Greenwood., 45 S.E. at 167-68. The new property owner was not made a party to the action. Id. at 168. The Supreme Court held that the equity of redemption is the legal estate in the realty subject to the lien of the mortgage debt. Id. “It was the duty of plaintiff in the foreclosure proceedings to make sure that the owner of the “equity of redemption” was a party to the foreclosure suit.” Id.

There are key factual differences between the present case and Greenwood. In Greenwood, the new property owner was never joined as a party and the issues arose post sale. In the present case, the property has not yet gone to sale and the current property owner, Regime, has been joined to the action. Regime has been deprived of no right as they still have the option to pay off the mortgage debt and retain title to the property. In Greenwood, the property owner was deprived of this right as the property was sold by the bank without ever making the new owner a party. In the

present case, Regime has been joined as party to the action by order of the court and has the full and fair opportunity to exercise their right of redemption and payoff the mortgage, thus retaining title to the property.

b. Regime has been deprived of no right or defense by being joined post initial judgment, because they are not a party to the note or mortgage.

Regime claims to have a right to question the amount of the debt and ownership of the mortgage indebtedness. However, Regime Solutions is not a note maker or mortgagor and their rights are limited. They only have the right to redeem the property, as would any other junior interest holder. *Peeples*, 139 S.E. at 409. Having not been a party to the contract, they have no basis on which to question the debt. *See Windsor Green Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 12 ,17, 605 S.E.2d 750, 752 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Generally one not in privity of contract with another cannot maintain an action against him in breach of contract, and any damage resulting from the breach of a contract between the defendant and a third party is not, as such, recoverable by the plaintiff”). Only intended beneficiaries, not incidental or consequential beneficiaries, can enforce a contract. *Goode v. St. Stephens Methodist Church*, 329 S.C. 433, 445, 494 S.E.2d 827, 833 (Ct. App. 1997). South Carolina courts, when applying these basic contract principles, have held that a nonparty to a mortgage assignment lacks standing to challenge it. *See, e.g. In re McFadden*, 471 B.R. 136, 161 (Bankr.D.S.C. 2012) (“Courts addressing the standing of a borrower to object to the validity of assignments of his loan have found that a borrower lacks standing to attack assignments due to his status as a third party”); *Reese v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, No. 11-2990, 2012 WL 1952819, at 3 (D.S.C. Apr. 30, 2012) (reasoning that the Plaintiff is only a party to the Mortgage and, because the Assignment is a separate contract to which Plaintiff is not a party, she cannot question its validity).

The Judge has examined the evidence presented by the Plaintiff and determined the amount of debt is fair and proper. (R. pp. 6-13.) By Appellant's own admission, they have taken the property subject to the Respondent's mortgage and have only the right to pay off the mortgage. (R. pp. 64-67.) Appellant has acknowledged that they cannot make payments under the terms of the note or mortgage or assume the loan. (R. pp. 64-67.) The Judge reviewed the evidence, held a hearing and entered an order stating the amount required to redeem the property. Regime has been made aware of this amount and can tender the amount due. (R. pp. 6-13.) At any time they remain able to exercise their right of redemption. Therefore, by their own admission, they have been deprived of no valid defenses by the Court ordering them joined to the action. The Rule to Show Cause is specifically designed to provide an omitted party the opportunity to present any reasons for why they should not be bound to the judgment. (R. pp. 32-33.) The Appellant was unable to show any just cause why the rule should not be entered. (R. pp. 58-83.)

c. The Court had proper jurisdiction to join Regime to the action.

Regime cites Green Tree Servicing, LLC v. Adams, 654 S.E.2d 100 (S.C. App. 2007) for the proposition that the court no longer retained jurisdiction to join them as a party. There is a key difference in Green Tree and the present case that makes Green Tree of no relevance to the current proceeding. In Green Tree, Kenny Claxton executed a note and mortgage in favor of Green Tree Servicing which was recorded June 14, 1999. Id. at 101. On August 26, 2004, Tom Adams obtained a judgment against Claxton, which was recorded September 4, 2004. Id. Claxton defaulted on the note to Green Tree and a foreclosure action was initiated on October 26, 2004. Id. Judgment was obtained and the property was sold at auction, with the Master In Equity entering a report of confirmation of sale on February 28, 2005. Id. 101-2. Green Tree was the successful bidder at sale. Id. at 102. They discovered Adam's judgment in June of 2005 and filed a Rule to Show Cause.

Id. Because the sale had already occurred and the Master's final report was filed, the Master entered an order stating he no longer had subject matter jurisdiction to add Adams as a party to the case. Id. In the present case, the sale has not taken place and the Master has not filed his final report. Therefore, there is no question that the Master still has subject matter jurisdiction and full right and authority to add Regime as a party to the case. "Where a court of equity has assumed jurisdiction of a cause it will retain such jurisdiction to dispose of all issues within the scope of the pleadings, including the granting of whatever relief may be required to render the judgment of the court effective." Parker Peanut Co., v. Felder, 207 S.C. 63, 68, 34 S.E.2d 488, 490 (1945).

Regarding personal jurisdiction, the Court "has excused the use of the Rule to Show Cause to obtain jurisdiction when it contained the essential elements of a valid Summons." Ex Parte Citizens and Southern Nat. Bank of South Carolina v. First Palmetto State Bank and Trust Company Inc. v. Davis, 279 S.C. 252, 254, 305 S.E.2d 80 (1983); citing H.S. Chisholm, Inc. v. Klinger, 229 S.C. 8, 91 S.E.2d 538 (1956); Beard-Laney, Inc., v. Darby, 208 S.C. 313, 38 S.E.2d 1 (1946). While the purpose of the summons is to acquire jurisdiction of the person of the defendant and to give him notice of the action and an opportunity to appear and defend, it has frequently been held by the Courts, that it is not the only method by which jurisdiction may be acquired. H.S. Chisholm, Inc. v. Klinger, 229 S.C. 8, 13-14, 91 S.E.2d 538, 540-41 (1956). Where "[e]very requisite of a summons was contained in the order which was served on appellant along with the amended complaint. While this order was not subscribed by the plaintiff or his attorney, surely a notice and a command issued by the Court itself should be as efficacious as one issued by the party to an action or his attorney." Id. at 13, 540. In this case, Respondent's Summons and Rule to Show Cause contained all the essential element of a summons including 30 days to respond. (R pp. 32-33.)

In Green Tree, despite the Master in Equity ruling he no longer had jurisdiction to add Adam's as a party to the foreclosure action, it was not required that the foreclosure judgment and sale be vacated. Green Tree 654 S.E.2d at 103. Instead, Green Tree filed an action to clear title. The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision that "bound Adams to the previous foreclosure proceeding and cleared Green Tree's property from Adam's judgment lien." Id. at 102-3. In their analysis, the Court stated that an omitted lienholder retains the right of redemption which allows them the right to pay off the entire senior debt at the time of the foreclosure, therefore, Green Tree's failure to serve Adams in the foreclosure created no prejudice. Id. at 103. The same is true in the present case. Regime has been joined as a party to the action, pre-foreclosure sale, and has the opportunity to satisfy the senior lien and retain title to the property. There is no prejudice.

d. The validity of a Rule to Show Cause is firmly rooted in case law

Appellant goes through a lengthy discussion of Rule 60 in their brief and cites several cases pertaining to said rule. An analysis and discussion of this portion of Appellant's brief is unnecessary as there has been no point in time at which the Respondent has asserted or claimed reliance on Rule 60.

South Carolina case law shows the Rule to Show Cause to be the long-established vehicle for resolving issues arising after judgment and even sale in South Carolina foreclosure actions and is supported by case law dating back to the 1800s. For example, in Trenholm v. Wilson, the Supreme Court held proceeding by a rule to show cause is proper to require the widow of a mortgagor to surrender possession of the mortgage premises post sale. Trenholm v. Wilson, 13 S.C. 174 (1880).

Judge Simmons, Master in Equity for Greenville County, wrote that on the occasion an attorney handling a foreclosure matter omits to name an interested junior party, the attorney "may

bring a Rule to Show Cause requiring the omitted lienholder or mortgage holder to show cause why the lienholder or mortgage holder should not be bound by the foreclosure proceedings. The omitted junior lienholder or mortgage holder can prevail only if the land is worth more than the total of the prior encumbrances and if it is established that, in all probability, a resale of the land would generate proceeds which would reach the claim of the junior lienholder or mortgage holder. See Union National Bank of Columbia v. Cook, 110 S.C. 99, 96 S.E. 484 (1918).” Charles B. Simmons Jr., A Primer for Mortgage Foreclosures in South Carolina, 6 S.C. Lawyer 29, 31 (May/June 1995).

As discussed above, Appellant has agreed that they have taken title subject to the Respondent’s senior mortgage and as such their only remedy is the right of redemption. They are entitled to no more or no less than any other junior lienholder, making it entirely proper that they be joined to the action via a rule to show cause and bound to the foreclosure judgment. Furthermore, the Courts have the inherent power to do all things reasonably necessary to ensure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible. Ex Parte Dibble, 279 S.C. 592, 595, 310 S.E.2d 440, 442 (Ct. App. 1983). The application of a rule to show cause clearly falls squarely within the courts discretion.

CONCLUSION

Appellant has failed to cite a single case, statute or any other authority showing that a Rule to Show cause is not a proper avenue for joining them as a party and binding them to the judgment order. Therefore, the decision of the Master in Equity should be affirmed.

July 10, 2017



Genevieve S. Johnson (SC Bar No. 78480)
Brock and Scott, PLLC
3800 Fernandina Road, Suite 110
Columbia, SC 29210
(803) 454 3540

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
JUL 11 2017
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity

Case No. 2015-CP-40-04940

Appellate Case No. 2016-002546

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Indymac INDX Mortgage
Loan Trust 2006-AR29, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR29
.....Respondent,

v.